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INTRODUCTION

1. This is a stockholder class action brought by plaintiffs Raymond Boytim and Grant
Oakes (“plaintiffs”} on behalf of the holders of Parametric Sound Corporation (“Parametric” or the
“Company’) common stock against Parametric, its Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Parametric
Board™), its wholly owned subsidiary Paris Acquisition Corp. (“Merger Sub”) and VTB Holdings, Inc.
(“Turtle Beach™).

2. As set forth in detail below, the members of the Board breached their fiduciary duties
owed to the Company’s shareholders, in connection with the unfair merger at an unfair price, first
announced on August 5, 2013 and completed January 15, 2014 (the “Merger™). Parametric and Turtle
Beach aided and abetted the Board in their breaches of fiduciary duty.

3. From March to April 2013, through multiple in-person meetings, Kenneth Potashner
(“Potashner”) hatched a plan with Turtle Beach whereby Turtle Beach would acquire Parametric and
become Parametric’s controlling shareholder, while Potashner would continue to pursue Parametric’s
health initiatives and obtain a seat on the post-Merger board. Potashner and Turtle Beach designed the
deal as a Reverse Merger wherein the privately-held Turtle Beach merged into a Parametric subsidiary
then into the publicly-traded Parametric itself. Upon close of the transaction, Parametric immediately
issued millions of shares to Turtle Beach owners and insiders, the net effect being that Turtle Beach
controlled approximately 80% of the post-merger Parametric entity as of January 15, 2014. Meanwhile,
Parametric’s shareholders, who previously owned a combined 100% of the Company, were reduced to a
minority 20% interest in the post-merger Parametric.

4, The Merger was the byproduct of poor corporate governance and strikingly improper and
selfish conduct by corporate fiduciaries. As set forth in detail below, five out of six Parametric Board
members were conflicted when voting on the Merger. Indeed, in the hours leading up to, and in fact
during, the final meeting where the Board voted on the Merger, multiple Board members were
concerned primarily with their own personal payouts in order to “get even” with Potashner’s golden
parachute. Earlier in the Merger negotiations, with the Board’s acquiescence, Potashner stalled
discussions with other licensing partners and potential acquirers in order to appease Turtle Beach, even

admitting that “My stock is taking a beating due to me deferring signing licensing deals.” Similarly,
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Potashner and the Board delayed positive and material Company announcements in an attempt to create
a manipulated premium on the Merger. In just one of several such instances, Potashner wrote that he
did so because Turtle Beach’s “preference is that we don’t defend the stock in that [the] premium on
[the] deal will look better.” Further, in response to Potashner’s repeated threats, the Board permitted
Potashner to demand a cash payment from Turtle Beach in exchange for an agreement not to sue
Parametric.

5. In the end, the post-Merger-announcement go-shop process was a sham. Turtle Beach
and Parametric agreed that “you’re not looking for an alternative and neither are we,” so the Board
undermined the go-shop by referring incoming interest to Turtle Beach. For example, when Motorola
Mobility indicated it was interested in purchasing Parametric’s intellectual property, Potashner leaked
the contact to Turtle Beach. Then Turtle Beach, rather than Parametric or its bankers, contacted
Motorola and swatted away Motorola’s overtures. These problems were further compounded by the
coercive Break-Up License, which was set to give away Parametric’s key intellectual property for well
less than fair market value. Contrary to defendants’ representations at the injunction stage, the Board
did not rely on its financial advisors in considering the Break-Up License and Board member Andrew
Wolfe (“Wolfe”) had absolutely no impact on the negotiations. These facts are all set forth in detail
below with cites to the evidentiary record obtained thus far.

6. The misconduct described herein resulted in an unfair and inadequate Merger valuation
for Parametric’s stockholders. In particular, the Parametric Board consciously disregarded a known
component of Parametric’s standalone value when it delayed and then excluded all potential revenues
from the STIG/ Optek Electronics soundbar from the projections it provided to Craig-Hallum Capital
Group, LLC (“Craig Hallum”). In addition, the attractiveness of such a transaction to Parametric
shareholders also depends upon the value of the larger-private company, but contrary to defendants’
representations, Turtle Beach was a distressed company. Before the Merger, Turtle Beach’s financial
performance had rapidly deteriorated, having tripped its debt covenants with third-party lenders. It also
appears that Turtle Beach’s lenders forced the Merger in order for Turtle Beach to manipulate
Parametric and access the public markets without incurring the expense of its own Initial Public

Offering. As a result, the market reacted negatively to the Merger. The day before the Merger was
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announced, Parametric’s shares closed at $17.69 per share and the first trading day thereafter,
Parametric’s stock closed at $14.08 per share on August 6, representing an immediate 20% drop in
shareholder value. Parametric shares dipped to post-announcement low of $10.46 on December 11,
2013 and ultimately stood at $14.19 on January 15, 2014, the day the Merger closed.

7. This complaint alleges damages resulting from an improper Merger. Pursuant to the
Merger and related misconduct described herein, plaintiffs and the class lost unique personal property.
After the close of the Merger, the shareholders’ majority voting interest in the pre-Merger standalone
Company ceased to exist. Parametric is now considered a “controlled company” under NASDAQ rules,
meaning that over 50% of the voting power is held by former Turtle Beach insiders. Minority
ownership in a public company with a private controlling stockholder is subject to substantial discounts
and carries few of the protections that should have otherwise been afforded to stockholders in
Parametric’s pre-Merger ownership structure. As a controlled company, Parametric is now opting out
of NASDAQ rules that would otherwise require a majority of independent directors and independent
compensation and governance committees. Inaddition, the Merger coercively deprived stockholders of
a free and fair opportunity to vote on the Merger without severe repercussion for a “no” vote.

8. Through coercion and misinformation, defendants obtained a majority vote of woefully
uninformed Parametric shareholders on December 27, 2013. Shareholders were coerced into voting for
the Merger as a result of a Break-Up License that was set to cripple the Company in the event of a “no”
vote. Further, shareholders were uninformed as a result of a misleading Definitive Proxy Statement
Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Proxy), filed with the SEC on
December 3, 2013. The Board also amended Parametric’s bylaws on August 2, 2013 to cancel
Parametric shareholders’ then-existing right to seek appraisal in connection with the Merger under
Nevada law.

9. The Board acted disloyally and in bad faith throughout the improper Merger process.
Under well-established Nevada law, plaintiffs and the shareholder class are entitled to monetary

damages including the difference between the Merger valuation and the fair value of their shares.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE
10. Pursuant to the Constitution of the State of Nevada, Article 6, §6, this Court has
jurisdiction over all causes of action asserted herein. This court has jurisdiction over each defendant
named herein because each defendant is either a corporation that is incorporated in, conducts business
in, and maintains operations in this State, or is an individual who has sufficient minimurn contacts with
the State of Nevada so as to render the exercise of jurisdiction by the Nevada courts permissible under
traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. Parametric is a public corporation incorporated

under the laws of the state of Nevada.

PARTIES
11.  Plaintiff Raymond Boytim at all times relevant hereto was a shareholder of Parametric.
12, Plaintiff Grant Oakes at all times relevant hereto was a shareholder of Parametric.
13.  Defendant Parametric is a leading innovator of audio products and solutions. It is

incorporated in Nevada and has its headquarters at 13771 Danielson Street, Suite L, Poway, California
92064. It trades on the NASDAQ under the symbol “PAMT.”

14.  Defendant Potashner was the Executive Chairman of Parametric’s Board. He was
appointed a director in December 2011 and Executive Chairman in March 2012. He served effectively
as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO").

15.  Defendant Elwood G. Norris (“Norris”) was a member of Parametric’s Board and the
Company’s President and Founder. He served as the Company’s CEO and Chairman of the Board since
the Company’s incorporation on June 2, 2010, but resigned from these positions concurrent with the
appointment of Potashner as the Company’s Executive Chairman in March 2012. Norris remains in a
management role at Parametric post-Merger.

16.  Defendant Seth Putterman (“Putterman”) was a member of Parametric’s Board. He was
appointed a director in May 2011.

17. Defendant Robert M. Kaplan (“Kaplan”) was a member of Parametric’s Board. He was
appointed a director in May 2011.

18.  Defendant Wolfe was a member of Parametric’s Board. He was appointed a director in

February 2012.
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19. Defendant James L. Honore (“Honore™) was a member of Parametric’s Board. He was
appointed a director in March 2012.

20.  Thedefendants named abovein{14-19 are sometimes collectively referred to herein as
the “Individual Defendants.”

21, Defendant Turtle Beach was a company that designed and marketed audio peripherals
for video game, personal computer, and mobile platforms. It was headquartered in Valhalla, New York.
It was majority owned by the Stripes Group, a growth equity fund based in New Y ork City, and was a
brand of Voyetra Turtle Beach, Inc.

THE MERGER WAS NOT APPROVED BY AN INDEPENDENT, DISINTERESTED
MAJORITY OF DIRECTORS - FIVE OF ITS SIX MEMBERS WERE CONFLICTED

22, The Merger was not approved by a majority of disinterested and independent directors.
At the time of the Board’s merger vote on August 2, 2013, the Board had six members. Five of those
six individuals were conflicted and/or acted in self-interest when voting on the Merger. Those conflicts
are broken down as follows.

23.  Kenneth Potashner. Potashner was conflicted and interested in the Merger in light of
his position as the Company’s top executive and his personal plans to transition to a rote overseeing
Parametric’s hearing-related initiatives. At the time Potashner begun negotiations and at the time he
voted on the Merger, Potashner believed that the Merger would offer a better vehicle for his continued
management of Parametric’s hearing-related initiatives. Upon Potashner’s first conversation with Stark
in March 2013, Potashner stated that he could see the opportunity to take Parametric private, “break it
into three companies (ip, health, digitat signage), and then let each determine its path to future
liquidity.”" (“Health” referred to Potashner’s role in HyperSound Health, Inc. (“HHI”).) Potashner saw
great personal “liquidity” in HHI, later admitting that “I believe over time the hhi component will be

worth abillion.”? In fact, at a December 13, 2013 board meeting, Potashner “outlined the longer-term

! PAMT0039492.
2 PAMT004036.
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plans for him to transition more time to HHI” and that, as a result, Parametric itself would need a new
CEO.}

24.  Potashner confided in a colleague that “my general attitude is to solve most HHI topics
post DA [Definitive Merger Agreement] in that I don’t want to create barriers to moving forward.”™ As
Board member Norris recognized:

Since John [Todd] and Ken [Potashner] are threatening now, why should we think

they’ll be easier after the deal? Juergen [Stark] is asking for a lawsuit if he buys that.

John and Ken will force TB [Turtle Beach] to let them run HHI or sue TB That’s the

next shoe that’1l drop. I guarantee it. 1 don’t think they connected that dot.®

25. Potashner was so determined to protect his own interests that he engaged in an egregious
pattern of threats and misrepresentations to the Parametric Board throughout the Merger negotiations.
Potashner repeatedly misrepresented and concealed information to the rest of the Parametric Board,
defied the Board’s orders not to discuss certain issues with Turtle Beach on several occasions,
threatened to displace the entire Board if they did not cave to his personal compensation demands, and
threatened to sue the Board if they did not pay one of Potashner and one of Potashner’s colleagues
$250,000 in cash. That colleague, an individual named John Todd (“Todd™), has been found liable to
the SEC in a unanimous jury verdict for securities fraud. In exchange, the Board required Potashner
and Todd to sign a release of their rights to sue Parametric. In sum, Potashner’s repeated threats,
misrepresentations, concealments, and outright lies to the rest of the Board are not the hallmark of a
disinterested, independent director.

26.  Potashner also negotiated for himself a continued seat on Parametric’s Board after the
Merger, providing him with further input into his future role with the Company and preferred focus on
Parametric’s hearing-related endeavors (whether or not through a formal HHI subsidiary). Even though
Turtle Beach’s lenders forced it to dissolve HHI as an entity post-Merger, Parametric’s hearing
initiatives are proceeding full speed ahead, just as Potashner had contemplated. On February 19,2014,

Parametric announced that it received FDA clearance for the marketing of the HyperSound® Audio

3 PAMTO0000006-07; PAMT0000062.
4 PAMTO004026.
s PAMT0033904.
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System as a hearing improvement device® In addition, Potashner received golden parachute
compensation of a total 0f$2,807,738 in the Merger, which further motivated him to complete the deal
rather than step down as CEO when the Company eventually found a replacement.

27.  Elwoed “Woody” Norris. Norris was also conflicted as a result of his vying for
employment in the post-Merger entity, resulting financial interest in completing the Acquisition, and
related susceptibility to Potashner’s threats. Potashner recognized these conflicts and pounced,
threatening Norris that he would personally lose millions if Norris did not go along with the planned
Merger. On March 29, 2013, as Potashner was working out a deal with Stark, Potashner emailed Norris
privately to state that the Merger was in doubt and that “If the bod [Board of Directors] costs us this
deal 1 will look for them all to resign or I will resign. The Bod is on the verge of losing you at least
$10m personally”” The deal’s $10 million financial windfall to Norris left him susceptible to
Potashner’s threats and existed in direct contrast to the impact on Parametric’s public shareholders
generally, who have all lost significantly. Moreover, Norris is retaining his position at Parametric as
President & Chief Scientist post-Merger, according to Parametric’s investor presentations regarding the
post-Merger entity.® Norris was aware of this incentive when he voted on the Merger —by July 1,2013,
Potashner stated that “Woody Norris to have an employment contract with ‘Newco’” post-Merger was a
term of the then-current Merger Agreement.’ As a result of the Merger, Norris was able to cash out his
extensive but illiquid stockholdings but also keeps his executive position post-Merger.

28.  Andrew Wolfe. Wolfe was beholden to Potashner in light of their prior relationship in
threating boards for personal compensation and Potashner’s continued improper incentivizing of Wolfe
to do Potashner’s bidding. As described in further detail below, Potashner and Wolfe served as CEQ
and Chief Technology Officer (“CTO”), respectively, of SonicBlue, Inc. (“SonicBlue”). Potashner

promoted Wolfe to CTO and Senior Vice President of Business Development then procured

6 See http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1493761/000119312514058174/
d678798dex991.htm.

! PAMT0033560.
8 See http://www parametricsound.com/pdf/Parametric Turtle Beach IR Presentation12-10-13_pdf.
? PAMTO0061388.
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company-issued loans for himself and Wolfe to purchase 654,717 and 171,179 shares of a SonicBlue
subsidiary. When SonicBlue’s board later voted to convert their own loans (but not Potashner’s and
Wolfe’s) to non-recourse, Potashner publically demanded the board pay up or resign. Potashner then
sued his own board. As a result, SonicBlue agreed to pay Wolfe a ten-month salary when SonicBlue
terminated Wolfe in October 2002.

29.  Wolfewas in Potashner’s debt and Potashner continued this pattern by personally luring
Wolfe to the Parametric board in February 2012. When Potashner began angling for a post-Merger
Board seat with Turtle Beach, Potashner pushed for two candidates — himself and Wolfe. On July 1,
2013, Potashner emailed Stark, “Have you settled on the 7 vs 9 man bod config yet? Ifitis 7 1
anticipate I will be the choice if it is 9 I will also recommend we add Andy Wolfe to the BOD.”!° Two
days later, Potashner again emailed Stark to state that Wolfe “will be my recommendation for the 2ND
BOD seat should PAMT go to 2.”!! Wolfe currently remains on the Parametric Board post-Merger. In
light of their mutual history of bad faith threats and incentives, Wolfe was in a position to comport with
the wishes and interest of Potashner, rather than Parametric stockholders generally.

30. Dr.Robert Kaplan. Despite not participating in a single discussion with Turtle Beach,
Kaplan voted on the Merger while vying for a personal payment to “get even” with Potashner. The day
of the most significant vote in Parametric’s corporate existence, Kaplan spent his time emailing about
the personal bonus he felt the independent directors should receive. The Parametric Board voted on the
Merger at a 4 p.m. meeting on August 2, 2013. One hour before the meeting, Kaplan wrote to propose
the following resolution:

“$50,000 is to be paid to each of the independent directors as compensation for their

continuing efforts and activity in Corporate Development. This money is to be paid

immediately.” I mentioned this thought to you previously and have discussed it with

Seth [Putterman]. Since it should not be tied to the merger, I have described it
differently.'

10 PAMTO0060337.
n PAMT0033267.
i2 PAMT0072324,
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31. At the meeting an hour later, a few minutes before the Board actually voted on the
Merger, the Board agreed to table the final decision on their bonuses: “The Board next discussed
potential cash bonuses for the directors based on their increased level of work related to the Merger
Agreement and other contemporaneous matters, but deferred any decision related thereto.”!> After

4 Kaplan, however, still believed he would

voting on the Merger, the Board adjourned at 5:00 p.m.
receive a cash bonus. At 7:35 p.m. that evening PDT (8:35 MDT), Kaplan continued in his personal
quest for a Merger-related bonus, upping the ante:

I used 50K as a starting point. . . . My real suggestion is to have an average of all the

executive bonuses and that figure is what the IDs [Independent Directors] should get,

Ken has granted himself rather large bonsues. This will get even with him, not that I

want to get even, I really just want equality."

32.  Kaplan demonstrated the same money-hungry approach earlier in the Merger negotiation
process as well. On July 7, 2013, Kaplan emailed Barnes and Norris stating: “I think the BoD should
pass a resolution giving some kind of healthy golden parachutes to all the BoD members upon their
termination, e.g., stock options (VTB is issuing an unlimited amount of options pre merger).”'® These
payments were material to Kaplan personally and, as demonstrated above, he was operating under the
belief that he would receive the Merger-related bonus at the time he voted on the Merger. In fact, even
in the Proxy released on December 3, 2013, defendants kept the option open, stating that “in connection
with the negotiation and execution of the merger agreement, Parametric may elect to pay a fee to each
of the non-employee members of the Parametric Board, commensurate to the incremental time devoted
by them apart from normal board of director service in 2013, related to review and analysis of strategic
transactions and related matters.”!’”

33. Seth Putterman. Like Kaplan, Putterman also voted on the Merger with the expectation

of receiving a cash bonus. At 4:50 p.m. on August 2, 2013, during the very meeting while Putterman

13 PAMTO0000189.
14 Id.

15 PAMT0072292.
16 PAMT(0033288.

Proxy at 75.

-9-

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT IN INTERVENTION

PA0O11



10
1
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

and the rest of the Board were voting on the Merger, Putterman agreed with Kaplan’s bonus request in
general, but offered a different rationale: “Can the bonus be made contingent on successfully raising
the 5-15M$ that we seek prior to closing but that we need in any event!”'® Putterman knew his
proposed rationale had no merit — Putterman was not involved in obtaining the financing and conducted
no actual work in doing so. Putterman did not contact any financing sources, did not engage in an
independent discussion with the bankers, and did not perform any analysis on the financing documents.
The notion that Putterman would be entitled to a bonus for a financing he had nothing to do with was as
absurd as it was self-interested.

34, Moreover, Putterman held a consulting agreement with Parametric and was forced to
resign before the Merger’s close. On November 12, 2013, Parametric was forced to notify the
NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ”) that Putterman was not actually “independent” under NASDAQ
rules. The Board had earlier failed to disclose that it gave a consulting contract to Putterman and
granted him options vesting over three years valued at $162,775 and, according to Parametric, the
payments “exceeded the $120,000 compensation limit set forth in NASDAQ Marketplace Rule
5605(a)(2)(B) and therefore precludes Dr. Putterman from being deemed independent according to this
rule.”!® This meant that Parametric had been operating in violation of NASDAQ rules throughout the
Merger process because half of its six-member Board was not independent — Potashner, Norris and
Putterman. Consequently, on November21, 2013, three months after voting on the Merger, Putterman
tendered his resignation from the Parametric Board. According to Parametric, “[i]n connection with Dr.
Putterman’s resignation, the Parametric Board reduced its size from six members to five members. The
five-member Parametric Board now has three independent directors, representing a majority.”?® As of
August 2, 2013, however, there was no independent majority to vote on the Merger in light of the

conflicts described above.

18 PAMT0072324.

19 See http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1493761/000101968 713004399/
parametric_8k.htm,

20 .‘i’lee http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1493761/00010196871300458 1/pamt_8k-
112113.htm,

-10-

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT IN INTERVENTION

PA012



A'=RE - CEEE s B = e e N« N A~

DN N NN NN NN o e e e e e m ek
® 9 N ! hA WN =, QO OV 0 Nl W R W N~ O

THE BOARD ENGAGED IN DISLOYAL AND BAD FAITH CONDUCT IN CONNECTION
WITH THE MERGER

35.  Inaddition to their conflicts of interest, the Board engaged in multiple instances of bad
faith conduct in breach of their fiduciary duties. All ofthe bad faith acts described below were directly
related to the Merger and its process, impacted negotiations with Turtle Beach, and harmed Parametric
shareholders.

Potashner and the Board Favored Turtle Beach By Stalling
Other Potential Acquirers and Licensing Discussions

36. In order to roll out the red carpet for his preferred merger partner, Turtle Beach,
Potashner — and by their acquiescence, the rest of the Board — stalled discussions with other licensing
partners and potential acquirers as soon as Turtle Beach arrived on the scene. On April 7, 2013,
Potashner wrote: “On the positive side I would be able to announce the license and buy additional time
both with the parties that we have stalled . . . I have several things going on including defining a
financing and the pressures of the license activities we put on hold.”?' Turtle Beach CEO Juergen Stark
(“Stark”™) agreed, responding to Potashner that “In fact I assumed you would absolutely not want to
announce any license deal since you’ve stalled all the other parties.”” Potashner explained to Turtle
Beach at the same time that that “we are not in shop the company mode.”?*

37.  Potashner admitted to the harm caused by his stalling efforts. On April 9, 2013,
Potashner wrote to his CFO and Turtle Beach: “My stock is taking a beating due to me deferring
signing licensing deals. Any ideas?"**

38.  Potashner also wrote in the same timeframe referencing the SIIG/Optek license: “I may
need help on how to slow down one of the discussions we have underway. The time urgency is that

they are targeting a gaming accessory product for this Xmas and thinking in the 200-300k unit range.””*

2l PAMT0039816-21.
2 Id

23 PAMTO0039756.

24 PAMT0039840.

25 PAMT0039368.
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Potashner further explained to Stark on May 31, 2013 that, “I have a SIIG license ready to be signed in
the event we don’t do the deal plus an announcement on our completion of Disneyland McD plus an
important new patent filing on glass implementation for displays. 1 am waiting to see if we are a go
before making decisions,”2¢ |

39.  Contrary to defendants’ representations at the injunction stage, there were capable buyers
interested in purchasing Parametric. On April 12, 2013, Potashner described a conversation with an
Amazon executive as follows: “He declared Amazon is interested in buying the company . ... He
said they are familiar with our technology and believe it will be highly relevant to future products
Amazon plans on launching.””’

40.  Therest of the Parametric Board finally noticed Potashner’s stalling efforts three months
later and, on July 6, 2013, Kaplan wrote:

Personally I think this has gone on far too long. We need to get on with the business of

running the business. What has been going on since this VIB [Turtle Beach] idea

surfaced? Where are our licensing agreements, where are sales (incremental

improvement due to David), Epsilon, Amazon, The Chinese, McDonalds, The Bear

stores (still in beta mode), Sony, Samsung, etc.? AND WE HAVE SURE BURNED

THROUGH A HELL OF A LOT OF MONEY. ... It is time for the BOD to step up

and take charge! We have been far too passive in the past. It is good to have a strong

leader but not a dictator.?®

41. While Kaplan’s email demonstrated a brief glimpse of spirit, the next day, July 7, 2013,
Kaplan embarked on his above-described personal quest for an additional bonus in connection with the
Merger. Afterrealizing the potential for personal benefit, Kaplan fell in line and never again questioned
Potashner’s unreasonable and improper hindrance of Company progress in order to effectuate the
Merger.

42.  Potashner’s behavior did not improve. Before the Board even voted on the Merger,

Potashner gave Turtle Beach “veto rights on all licenses” thus precluding the Company from entering

26 PAMT0040576.
Y PAMT0039865.
28 PAMTO061365.
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into a superior licensing agreement before handing control to Turtle Beach.”’ This conduct had a
directly negative impact on the Merger valuation.

Potashner Delayed Positive Company Announcements

Throughout Merger Negotiations in an Attempt to

Create a Manipulated Premium on the Merger, Mislead

Parametric Stockholders, and Appease Turtle Beach

43.  Potashner also concocted a scheme to fix Parametric’s stock price and prevent it from
rising even further above the proposed Merger consideration. In early June 2013, Potashner and Barnes
were deciding what to include in a press-release entitled, “Parametric Sound Corporation Provides
Update on Strategic Alternatives.”*® In addition to a vague background about strategic alternatives, the
draft internal press release touted Parametric’s execution on its operational plan through the recent
completion of a Hypersound technology installation at McDonald’s Disneyland restaurant, which
represented a significant development in the Company’s efforts to commercialize and implement its
audio technology.’® That paragraph existed in the internal draft as follows:

The Company’s commercial business focuses on the ability to target communication and

create sound zones in various retail sites. The Company completed the scheduled

installation of HyperSound technology at a McDonald’s Disneyland restaurant last

week and continues to grow its commercial product pipeline.’*

44, Parametric’s stock had been declining between May 28 and June 1, 2013, and this
language would have defended the stock and signaled to the markets that the Company was executing
on its prior promises of commercialization,

45. But on May 31, 2013, Potashner asked Turtle Beach, through Stark, if Parametric should
include the language in the press release. Potashner first did so by email: “l have . . . anannouncement

on our completion of Disneyland McD ... | am waiting to see if we are a go before making

decisions.”® Potashner followed up with a phone call to Stark on June 2, 2013 and informed Barnes of

2 PAMTO0060525.
30 See http://www.parametricsound.com/press_release_details.php?id=82.
i PAMTO0040591; PAMT0040592.
32 PAMTO0040591; PAMT0040592.

3 PAMT0040576.
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the result of that conversation: “Just spoke to Juergen [Stark] and his preference (and Ken [Fox’s])

preference is that we don’t defend the stock in that premium on deal will look better.”>* Potashner

complied with Turtle Beach’s wishes and deleted the McDonald’s Disneyland reference from the final
press release.>> As a result, Parametric’s stock price continued to decline.

46.  This instance amounted to just one example of Potashner’s malfeasance in manipulating
the stockholder vote through misinformation and suppression of Parametric’s pre-Merger stock price.
Put differently, Potashner knew that the 80%/20% ratio undervalued Parametric, but attempted to keep
Parametric’s pre-Merger-Announcement stock price low so that the stock would not plummet an even
higher percentage when the Merger was announced. For example:

. May 17, 2013: Potashner outlined for Stark his plan for a post-Merger-Announcement
press strategy: “I have also been stockpiling announcements that we can roll out to
solidify price if there is weakness. You and I can strategize on whether we want to lay
low or get more aggressive in terms of supporting the stock.”¢

. May 17,2013: Potashner to Barnes: “Important we don’t show any concerns that stock
might drop. 1know how to keep it up using hhi info.”?’

. May 17,2013: John Todd to Potashner: “As I understand they [Turtle Beach] believe
the stock will drop once we announce and that this will make the deal less favorable
than an IPO.... If they [Turtle Beach] have announcements and we have
announcements [to release after the Merger announcement] we can not only hold

price but significantly improve price.”*

M PAMT0040595.
33 See http://www parametricsound.com/press_release details.php?id=82.
3 PAMT0040368.

7

38 PAMT0040339.
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. May 29, 2013: Potashner took Todd’s advice and relayed to Turtle Beach: “I expressed
to Karen that we collectively should not be overly concerned by the stock run up in that
we have choices in terms of where we assign valuation. We have had recent successes
on the commercial and health side and it would be easy to assign substantial values

there. We also have now accumulated unannounced wins that I plan on delaying

announcements on for as long as possible.””

L June 9, 2013: Potashner again confirms to Barnes and Todd that he has been delaying
positive announcements: “If[ announced deal dead but TB licensee, SI1G license, glass
patent, HHI progress I can hold the stock value and we have a successful secondary.”*

47.  Potashner’s disloyal manipulation attempted to make a terrible deal look slightly better
and, in bad faith, the rest of the Board did nothing to stop him.
The Board Conducted the Merger Sale Process in Bad Faith

48.  Potashner met with Turtle Beach’s CEO throughout March and April 2013 and ironed
out an early deal on the Merger. Potashner told Stark he was “pleased and energized by your
declaration this moming that you would like to pursue either an acquisition or merger” and Potashner
went on to explain that Parametric was “not in shop the company mode and it would not be my intent in

»#! Meanwhile, in the words of

any form or fashion to attempt to leverage your interest into an auction.
Norris, Potashner “blackmailed” his fellow Board members if they did not go along with the deal. On
March 30, 2013, regarding his just-commenced negotiations with Turtle Beach, Potashner states in an
email to fellow Board member Norris: “1f the bod costs us this deal I will look for them all to resign or

I will resign.” Norris forwards to other board members, writing: “Is this blackmail or what{?]"**

39 PAMTO0039617.
40 PAMTO0040658.
41 PAMT0039756-57.
2 PAMT0033560-62.
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49, Potashner commandeered Barnes and a financial advisor, Houlihan Lokey Capital, Inc.
(“Houlihan Lokey”) and conducted multiple due diligence meetings with Turtle Beach. On April 19,
2013, Potashner came to an agreement on the final terms of a merger with Turtle Beach without
consulting the Board or conducting any real diligence or audit of Turtle Beach’s finances. Inameeting
at Turtle Beach’s San Diego office, attended by Potashner, Barnes and Todd, Turtle Beach presented a
draft term sheet for a reverse merger (the same format ultimately agreed-upon) whereby Turtle Beach’s
holders would own 80.88% of the Company and Parametric would own 19.12% of the Company on a
fully-diluted basis. By April 19, 2013, Stark and Potashner agreed on a term sheet that contemplated a
reverse merger at a 78%/22% split, meaning that Parametric stockholders would receive 22% of the
combined company after the merger. ** Rather than take the proposal back to the Parametric Board and
engage in further analysis, at the very same meeting, Potashner reached an oral agreement that
Parametric shareholders would only receive 22% of Parametric after the acquisition, while Turtle Beach
shareholders would receive 78% of the Company.* Potashner brought the rest of the Board into the
loop at a meeting the next day. In that single telephonic meeting, lasting less than an hour-and-a-half,
the Board agreed to an exclusivity agreement with Turtle Beach.

50.  After this initial agreement, there was no improvement in the final bid from Turtle
Beach; it actually got worse. By the time the Board signed the Merger Agreement, Parametric
shareholders’ post-merger interest had dropped from 22% down to just 20%.

51.  Overthe next two months, the Board continued to allow Potashner and Houlihan Lokey
to negotiate the terms of the Merger and conduct a limited sale process with no real oversight,
supervision or guidance. For example, from April 25, 2013 to June 25, 2013, the Board held just two
telephone conferences, one lasting a mere 28 minutes and the other lasting just 45 minutes. The rest of
the Board requested a copy of the draft--Merger Agreement for the first time on July 1, 2013. A quick

review of Potashner’s draft caused Parametric director Robert Kaplan to state that “I needed this as I

4 PAMT0049600-07; PAMT0006093-103.
a4 Id.
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feel we have been left in the dark and have had misrepresentations presented to us.”* Despite that
accusation, the Board did nothing to attempt to change the terms of the Break-Up License or exchange
ratio that Potashner had already negotiated with Turtle Beach.

52.  The Board finally held a substantive discussion on July 1, 2013, and in an email just
before the meeting, Potashner claimed that he had made *“good progress” on his HHI discussions with
Turtle Beach and explained that there were “no outstanding issues” related thereto.*® This update was
false. In reality, Turtle Beach had demanded that Potashner either cancel his HHI stock options or
dissolve HHI altogether and when Potashner refused, Turtle Beach threatened to walk. Turtle Beach
confirmed to another Parametric Board member the same day that “[t]here was no agreement or,
notwithstanding suggestions to the contrary in reports from Mr. Potashner, near-agreement with [Turtle
Beach] regarding resolution of issues regarding HHI or the HHI stock options.™’

53. In light of Potashner’s obvious HHI-related conflict, on July 1, 2013, the Board gaveits
first of several instructions to Potashner that he immediately cease all discussions with Turtle Beach
regarding HHL.*® Further breaching his fiduciary duties, Potashner repeatedly and openly flouted this
instruction and the Board did nothing to stop him. And rather than appoint disinterested negotiators, the
Board asked Putterman and Bames to pick up the HHI-related negotiations with Turtle Beach. Both
had conflicts. Putterman had a consulting agreement with Parametric and Barnes was one of HHI’s two
officers, along with Potashner.

54.  Turtle Beach demanded that the Board cancel the HHI options and dissolve the
subsidiary. There was of course no rational business purpose for continuing to maintain HHI as a
separate entity. [n fact, the Company paid for all of HHI’s expenses, HHI had secured no separate

financing, and HHI activities had been performed using the Company’s resources and Potashner and

45 PAMTO0061426.
46 PAMTO0000160.
47 Id
48 ]d
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Todd had performed their HHI-related activities pursuant to their employment agreement and
consulting agreement with the Company, respectively.

55.  The Board proposed a dissolution of HHI to Potashner at a July 5, 2013 Parametric
Board meeting. Potashner did not take the news well, reacting in a manner unbefitting any corporate
fiduciary. The Board’s minutes state:

Further, if the Board were to dissolve HHI, Mr. Potashner stated that he would call a

special meeting of stockholders for the purpose of replacing the Board. Mr. Potashner

informed the Board that he could obtain ggroxies for 40% of the Company’s outstanding

shares to effectnate such a replacement.

56. In other words, if the Board put Parametric shareholders’ interests above Potashner’s,
then Potashner would see to it that the entire Board was replaced. Potashner’s outrageous conduct
caused the Company’s founder and President, Norris, to threaten to disassociate from the Company,
indicating that “Potashner’s proposed actions would be unacceptable to him and that he would not
continue with the Company if the Board were replaced.” In fear of their jobs, the Board immediately
caved and asked Potashner how many Parametric shares he would accept in exchange for his HHI stock
options.”’ The Board then asked the conflicted Barnes to prepare a valuation of HHI in light of the new
information from Turtle Beach. The Board again instructed Potashner to discontinue discussions with
Turtle Beach regarding HHI.*

57.  Despite Potashner’s open threat to the Board at the July 5 meeting, statement that he
controls 40% of Parametric’s shareholders, Norris’s related threat to resign, and the Board’s admission
of a conflict, the Board approved a misleading description of that meeting in the Proxy. The entire
description of that tumultuous meeting states:

On July 5,2013, a meeting of the Parametric Board was held with its financial and legal

advisors. At the meeting, the Parametric Board discussed the requirement of Turtle

Beach’s lenders that Parametric raise capital prior to the closing of the merger as a
condition of delivering such lender’s consent thereto.

49 PAMTO0000164,

50 1d.
31 1d
52 [d
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58.  Potashner confided to Wolfe and outlined their litigation plan against the rest of the
Board as follows: “All other choices we face (unilaterally cutting options, limiting license, firing
people, etc) will result in very aggressive claims against individuals and the company that 1 am
convinced will not only blow up the [Turtle Beach] deal but result in substantial corporate and personal
legal exposures.”™

59.  Two days after being instructed again not to do so, on July 7, Potashner continued to
defy the Board and held an in-person meeting with Turtle Beach’s CEO to reiterate that HHI should not
be dissolved. Yet again, on July 17 and July 19, Potashner and Barnes met with Turtle Beach to discuss
HHI-related issues. The Board held a conference call on July 20, where Potashner’s behavior actually
worsened. On that call, Potashner made a number of additional demands regarding HHI on his own

behalf and on Todd’s behalf:

A cash payment of $250,000 in exchange for Todd’s agreement not to sue the Board if
Todd’s HHI options were canceled,

A continuation of Todd’s consulting agreements with HHI for another fifteen months so
that he would continue to receive additional cash and options; and

Potashner also demanded that he, Barnes, and Todd receive a cash payment “equal to
nine-months salary.”>*

60. Potashner then threatened that if his demands were not met, “Todd would sue the
Company and the [Turtle Beach] merger transaction could be derailed in such a case.”* Potashner also
gave the board a “threat” to resign if the board attempted to cancel his HHI options “prior to or on
signing the DA [Definitive Agreement].”*® Neither Potashner nor Todd had any legal right to demand
any payment in exchange for cancellation of their HHI options. Their HHI 2013 Equity Incentive Plan

provided that in the event of a “change in control” or other merger by Parametric, the merger agreement

53 PAMT0033294.
54 PAMTQ000171.
55 Id
36 Id.
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may provide for all HHI options “cancellation with or without consideration, in all cases without the
consent of the Participant.”®’

61.  TheBoard again caved and, without any analysis or careful consideration, immediately
decided to allow Potashner, Wolfe, and Barnes to call Turtle Beach and convey Potashner’s demands.
The demands included that Turtle Beach would not shut down or dismantle HHI for six months
following the close of a merger and to pay cash payments to Potashner and Todd at 100% of 2013
bonus levels (whether they were entitled to such amounts or not) and not to restructure the HHI license
agreement. Inreturn, Potashner and Todd would agree not to sue Parametric, despite their lack of legal
rights under the HHI 2013 Equity Incentive Plan.*®

62.  Wolfe, Potashner and Barnes jointly made these demands to Turtle Beach on July 21 and
Potashner surreptitiously called Turtle Beach’s CEQ later in the day to follow up on the same issues.
Potashner’s conversations caused Turtle Beach to state that it would not move forward with any merger
unless all outstanding HHI options were canceled.

63.  On aJuly 23 Parametric Board conference call, Wolfe reported on negotiations with
Todd and the Board agreed to pay Todd the full $250,000 in exchange for an agreement not to sue
Parametric.® The Board also indicating a willingness to pay Potashner and Barnes their full 2013 cash
bonuses (whether entitled or not} but deferred the final approval to a Compensation Committee
meeting. On August 2, as the Board finalized its intent to enter into the Merger Agreement, the
“Compensation Committee” met Potashner’s cash demands.®” It agreed to pay his 2013 bonus
payments at the maximum target rate of $210,000.%' The Board also agreed to pay Norris and Barnes

their maximum target rates for 2013 of $81,000.52

5 PAMT0000024.
58 PAMT0000171.
59 PAMTO0000175.
80 PAMT0000189.
61 Id.
62 Id
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AS A RESULT OF THE BOARD’S BAD FAITH CONDUCT, SHAREHOLDERS WERE
COERCED INTO VOTING IN FAVOR OF THE MERGER BY A PANAPOLY OF
UNREASONABLE DEAL PROTECTION PROVISIONS

64. The Merger Agreement contains a series of deal protection provisions, the most
draconian of which is the “Break-Up License” provision that precluded other bidders and would
penalize Parametric stockholders if they were to vote against the Merger. If Parametric shareholders
had voted against the Merger or Parametric otherwise accepted a better offer, Parametric would have
been forced to provide Turtle Beach with: (1) an exclusive (even as to Parametric) worldwide license to
Parametric’s HyperSound technology in the “console audio products field” (i.e., gaming applications);
and (2) a non-exclusive worldwide license to Parametric’s HyperSound technology in the “computer
audio products field.” Parametric would have received a 6% royalty on net sales of such products, and
30% from any sublicenses that Turtle Beach negotiates. The term of the Break-Up License was a
minimum of ten years, with a minimum royalty payment of $2.0 million during the first five years and
$1.0 million for each year after that (for a total minimum royalty payment of $7.0 million). If these
minimum royalty payments were not made, Parametric had the right to convert the gaming license to
non-exclusive, but Parametric could not otherwise seek recourse from Turtle Beach for any unpaid
“minimum” royalties. The Merger Agreement also contained a highly unusual combination of a five
business day match-right provision and a 30-day “go-shop” provision.

65.  As aresult of the combination of these provisions, Parametric’s former stockholders
were coerced into voting in favor of the Merger. Had the stockholders voted against the Merger, the
former Parametric stsockholders would have been crippled by the one-sided Break-Up License.

The Parametric Board Did Not Rely on its Advisors in
Approving the Terms of the Break-Up License

66.  Neither Potashner nor the rest of the Board asked their financial advisors, Holihan Lokey
and Craig-Hallum, to conduct a valuation of the Break-Up License or otherwise analyze its

appropriateness as a deal term.%? The following excerpt of deposition testimony from Craig-Hallum’s

63 Deposition Transcript of David Wambeke (“Wambeke Tr.”) at 157-58; Deposition Transcript of
Kenneth Potashner (“Potashner Tr.”) at 78.
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“person most knowledgeable” regarding the Merger demonstrates the complete lack of involvement of

the Board’s advisors regarding the Break-Up License:

Q. ... There’s also a Breakup License Agreement in the Merger Agreement. Are you
aware of that?

A, Yes.
Q. Okay. Are you familiar with the terms of that agreement?
A. Not specifically, no.

Q. Okay. I mean, do you know the scope of IP being licensed in that agreement —
contemplated to be licensed in that agreement?

A. No.

Q. Do you have any understanding as to the percentage of royalties contemplated in
that Breakup License Agreement?

A. No.

Q. Do you have any understanding as to the minimum payments contemplated in that
Breakup License Agreement?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Did Craig-Hallum provide any opinion, formal or informal, as to the
appropriateness of that breakup license provision in the Merger Agreement?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Did Craig-Hallum provide any opinion, formal or informal, as to whether that
Breakup License Agreement was made at terms that would be considered fair market
value?

A. No.

Q. Did anyone from Parametric ask your opinion about that provision in any way, shape
or form?

A. No.
Q. Did you discuss that particular provision with anyone at Parametric?

A. No.%

67.  Potashner and the Board did nothing to value the asset lockup, even though the

Company’s CFO recognized that “[a]n exclusive license has a major impact on valuation, etc. so that

64

Wambeke Tr. at 157-58.
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needs evaluation.”® In addition, Potashner did not take any real effort to consider the value of the
Break-Up License to Turtle Beach, or any other potential buyer.®¢

Potashner Agreed to the Break-Up License Terms,
Wolfe Had Zero Material Impact on the Negotiations

68.  Potashner negotiated the substantive terms of the Break-Up License without Board
involvement. Wolfe, contrary to defendants’ misleading presentation to the Court at the preliminary
injunction stage, did not “take control” of anything.

69.  The Break-Up License was first conceived during initial discussions between Potashner
and Turtle Beach CEO Juergen Stark (“Stark”) in March 2013.9" The discussions quickly began to
focus on a purchase of Parametric by Turtle Beach, with Stark requesting the Break-Up License “as an
‘insurance’ policy to make sure we end up with at least a license in our field of use.”® Stark sent
Potashner a draft licensing agreement on April 6, 2013, at 10:36 AM, which included IP for “Gaming
and Computing field of use” with up-front payments and a royalty stream of 5% back to Parametric.®

70.  Potashner continued to negotiate the Break-Up License terms directly with Stark without
Board involvement. By April 19, 2013, Stark and Potashner agreed on a term sheet that noted the
Break-Up License “still needs discussion,” but specifically described an exclusive license for gaming,
exclusive license for “PC audio,” and the same 6% royalty rate and 30% re-license royalty rate that
appeared in the final Merger Agreement.”

71. Potashner wrote Stark on April 24, 2013, that:

I am getting substantial push back from counsel on the exclusive license of the element
of the break up fee.

The issue is there is a BOD record that we were not interested in segregating exclusive
gaming from consumer in that several of the potential licensees had presence in both

65 Potashner Depo. Ex. 4.
86 Potashner Tr. at 67-68.
67 Potashner Depo. Ex. 3.
68 Potashner Depo. Ex. 5.
6% PAMT0039748-49.
70 PAMTO0049600-07.
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sectors {(ie Sony). We have BOD record that states we would want near full market cap
exclusive full consumer/gaming.

Therefore the issuance of an exclusive gamins as breakup is deemed well in excess of
traditional break up fees and thus BOD issue.”!

72.  Nonetheless, Potashner conjectured he could gain support for “nonexc gaming and non
exc consumer with buyback right on consumer for $5M” although that would also be seen as
“expensive (usually breakup fee 2-3% of transaction value).””> When Stark balked, Potashner quickly
acquiesced: “I dont like going backwards on negotiation so I want to take a run at getting support of the
exclusivity on gaming at BOD tomorrow. Whatever data you can provide will be appreciated.””

73.  Potashner was able to overcome resistance from his counsel and convinoéd the rest of the
Board to agree to the Break-Up License. During a Board telephone conference the next day, April 25,
2013, Potashner requested and received approval for a Break-Up License that would include: (1)
exclusive license for gaming; and (2) a “license (perhaps exclusive)” for PC applications with $5
million repurchase right.”* The Board also specifically ceded further negotiations on the matter to
management, and apparently also ratified Potashner’s previous actions.”

74.  Over the next two months, the Board continued to allow Potashner to negotiate the terms
of the Merger yet again with little supervision or involvement. During this time, Wolfe was not
involved in a single discussion with Turtle Beach regarding the Break-Up License. Potashner —not
Wolfe — finalized the key terms of the Break-Up License. On June 19, 2013, Potashner approved the

key terms of the Break-Up License for inclusion into the Merger Agreement, including;

. an exclusive license to use the technology for any Console Audio Products;
. a non-exclusive license to use the technology for any Computer Audio Products;
) the definition for Console Audio Products;

7 PAMTO0040125.

7 Id.

B PAMT0070745-48.
" PAMTO0000122.

s Id
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. the definition for Computer Audio Produets;

. the initial 5-year term of each license;

. Turtle Beach’s ability to extend the license if it pays $2 million in annual revenue; and
. the 6% royalty rates.”

75.  After that point, the attorneys for both sides simply refined definitions (“Console Audio
Products Field,” “Computer Audio Products Field,” and “Products™) and worked out non-substantive
issues, while Wolfe sat back as a pedestrian cc’d on emails. Indeed, the core terms finalized by
Potashner on June 19, 2013 remained in the drafis circulated throughout July 2013 and survived into the
final Merger Agreement and Break-Up License.”” Wolfe only participated in a single conference call
with Turtle Beach and counsel on July 24, 2013, which had already been pre-negotiated by Stark and
Potashner “before we engage the lawyers tomorrow.””

76. Wolfe never ceded control to Potashner on Break-Up License negotiations. As late as
July 31, 2013, two days before the Board voted on the Merger, Stark attempted to re-trade on the prior
6% license deal and Potashner responded directly before even informing Wolfe.” Potashner stated, “I
am not open to creating a precedence for a dual royalty structure. The other license deals 1 have
negotiated are consistent at 6% or higher. I have not signed them but SIIG is an example.”®® The
attorneys continued to scriven the final Break-Up License and on August 1, 2013, Parametric counsel
John Hentrich forwarded a near final version to Barnes and Potashner at 5:25 p.m. but left Wolfe out of
the approval discussion until later that evening when Potashner provided his final comments.®
Throughout negotiations, Wolfe did not offer a single substantive comment on any Break-Up License

term.

76 PAMT0040772.

7 See, e.g., PAMT0065129; PAMT0065220; PAMT0069830.
78 PAMT0057667.

7 PAMT0057413.

80 Id.

81 See, e.g., PAMT0066252; PAMT0066296; PAMT0066298.
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The Parametric Board Did Not Negotiate the Break-Up License at Fair Market Value

77.  Parametric licensed “crown jewel” intellectual property at less than fair market value and
its terms did not reflect Parametric’s existing licensing strategy. Parametric’s IP commanded higher
royalties in other licensing agreements. In fact, all of Parametric’s then-existing licensing agreements
existed at a 15% royalty rate, much higher than the paltry 6% rate contained in the Break-Up
License. For example, Parametric signed a deal with Epsilon to license HyperSound’s automotive
applications for $1 million for development of a new device and a 15% royalty for revenue over $6.67
million.*? Parametric also licensed HyperSound’s health care application to its subsidiary HHI for 15%
of revenue.®?* Given that the latter was an interested transaction with Potashner, the Board must concede
that the 15% royalty was purportedly made on fair terms.

78.  Potashner confirmed these facts when he admitted to Stark that the Break-Up License’s
royalty, then at 5.5%, was “well below the other deals | am working on within the licensing realm.”%*
Potashner also stated: “I am also willing to have a break up consideration that results in you
achieving a gaming license at well below market value. ... As a demonstration of my conviction
towards closing a deal I will offer up gaming in the context of a breakup fee.””®’

79.  The Break-Up License sacrificed a key component to Parametric’s business model.
Parametric’s March 2013 investor presentation identified its “Licensing strategy” as a key “Capital
Light Business Model” that could generate “Recurring Revenue Streams.”®® The same presentation

touted Parametric’s “Strong IP Portfolio” and explained that “Strong IP supports licensing for volume

markets.”®” Similarly, Parametric’s 2012 investor presentation touts “Gaming Consoles/Computers” as

82 PAMTO0007031.

83 Parametric Sound Corp., Quarterly Report (Form 10-Q), at 14 (May 2, 2013), available at:
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1493761/000101968713001603/pamt_10q-033113 htm.

84 PAMT0039816.

8 Id.; PAMT0039756.
86 PAMTO0000313-35.
87 Id. at 319,
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part of its 2012-2013 “IP Strategy — Partner and License” and planned a lucrative entry into a $68
billion annual video gaming market.®

The Break-Up License Was Impermissibly Coercive
and Impaired the Shareholder Franchise

80.  After analyzing the deal protection provisions in the Merger Agreement, Professor
Guhan Subramanian, the H. Douglas Weaver Professor of Business Law at the Harvard Business
School and the Joseph Flom Professor of Law and Business at the Harvard Law School and the first
person in the history of Harvard University to hold tenured appointments at both HBS and HLS,
concluded as follows:

[ reach the following conclusions in my assessment of the Turtle Beach-Parametric deal:

(1) Asset lockups such as the Break-Up Fee License Agreement are extremely unusual
in the modern M& A marketplace;

(2) The particular combination of the 5-Day Match Right and the 30-Day Go-Shop
Provision is also not typical among comparable transactions;

(3) The Break-Up Fee License Agreement is a very potent asset lockup, because it
represents a large fraction of the overall value of Parametric, other bidders cannot
keep the HyperSound technology out of Turtle Beach’s hands by bidding, and the
evidence suggests that it was granted at less than fair market value;

(4) The combination of the 5-Day Match Right and the 30-Day Go Shop Provision puts
additional “furniture against the door,” creating no clear pathway for success for a third-
party bidder; and

(5) While the Break-Up Fee License Agreement and the Match Right/Go-Shop

Provision each have a deterrent effect on their own, it is my opinion that the combined

effect of these three provisions is highly likely to deter other bidders. This conclusion

becomes stronger to the extent that the Break-Up Fee License Agreement was struck at

less than fair market value.®

81.  TheBreak-Up License coerced Parametric’s shareholders to vote in favor of the Merger.
If shareholders would have voted against the Merger, the Break-Up License would have effectuated and
Parametric would have been crippled, having just licensed away its crucial intellectual property. This

acted as a coercive penalty for a “no” vote. Professor Subramanian explained this scenario as follows:

88 Parametric Sound Corp., Investor Presentation (Form 8-K), at 5-7 (Aug,. 29, 2012), available at:
hitp.//www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1493761/00010196871200304 1 /parametric_8k-ex9901.htrm.

89 Subramanian Decl., §14.
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[A]n asset lockup struck at less than fair market value reduces the stand-alone value of

the company in the event of a negative sharcholder vote, because the acquirer will

exercise the option and siphon value out of the company. Foreseeing this, shareholders

may vote for the deal even if they believe it is below fair value,*®®

82, Professor Subramanian also concluded that even if struck at fair market value, the Break-
Up License would preclude alternate bidders:

In the present matter, the Break-Up Fee License Agreement has the effect of eliminating

any value a third-party bidder might perceive in keeping the HyperSound technology

out of Turtle Beach’s hands. In contrast, if Turtle Beach completes the acquisition it can

keep the HyperSound technology out of competitors’ hands. Therefore, the asset lockup

has the effect of putting a “wedge” between Turtle Beach’s willingness to pay and other

bidders’ willingness to pay for Parametric.”!

83.  Because the Break-Up License was not struck at fair market value here, it involves an
increasingly negative impact to Parametric sharcholders:

Of course, if the Break-Up Fee License Agreement is struck at less than fair market

value, then bidder deterrence becomes even more severe. Value would be siphoned out

of the company at the moment Turtle Beach exercised its options under the Break-Up

Fee License Agreement. Foreseeing this siphoning, other bidders would be deterred

from bidding, or would bid less for Parametric. Bidder deterrence would increase

beyond the baseline level documented above.*?
The Go-Shop Was a Sham

84.  While the Merger Agreement contained a provision allowing Parametric to contact
parties within 30 days of the signing of the Merger Agreement, the “go-shop” was a sham. Indeed,
when Parametric’s attorneys drafted a paragraph about the go-shop paragraph in the Merger’s press
release, Stark echoed all defendants’ distaste for a higher offer: “You’re not looking for an alternative
and neither are we.”” Contrary to defendants’ earlier representations, Houlihan Lokey did not contact
all potential acquirers during the go-shop. Rather, Potashner referred at least one serious contact

directly to Stark and Turtle Beach. Stark would then swat them away in order to usurp the interest

post-Merger.

%0 Subramanian Decl., §57.

ol Id., 33.
2 1d., 746.
3 PAMT0056829.
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85.  OnAugust 12, 2013, one week into the go-shop period, Motorola Mobility’s Senior Vice
President and General Counsel, Scott Offer, contacted Parametric’s Vice President of Sales and
Marketing, Todd Savitt, to “re-engage” Parametric if Parametric “so desire[d]” because “Motorola
wanted to own [Parametric’s] IP.”** Even though Motorola was on the “Go Shop Buyers List,”
Potashner and Houlihan Lokey did not directly respond regarding this monumental indication of
interest, rather, Potashner inappropriately leaked the contact to Stark and Turtle Beach.”® After being
forwarded the email, Stark responded that evening: “What exactly is the situation with Motorola?
Please give me complete update.”® Potashner emailed back hours later: “I wont connect with him till
you and I speak first.”®” Then on August 15, 2013, according to Parametric’s “Recap of Licensing/Co-
Development Engagements with Motorola Mobility,” Stark spoke directly with Motorola but “[Scott]

Offer responds that Motorola is not interested at this time.”"®

Motorola’s interest in owning
Parametric’s IP lapsed based on the highly improper combination of Potashner’s leak and Stark’s direct
contact with Motorola during the go-shop.

86.  In addition, Potashner contacted Amazon during the go-shop and attempted to block it
from making an offer for Parametric or its gaming licenses (despite Amazon’s above-referenced interest
in purchasing Parametric as a whole). Amazon personnel wrote to Potashner on August 13, 2013,
“Ken, Quick question, in our conversation you mentioned that you would be able to license the PAMT
technology, custom build and install units per certain specs. How is the ability to do this affected by the

fact that Turtle Beach will likely own 80% of the company? Will they agree to do this?”"* Potashner

responded regarding Stark/Turtle beach: “Yes. He and I are aligned . . . I need to assure you aren’t

54 PAMT0060361.
93 PAMTO0038812.
% PAMT0060361.
o7 PAMT0060541.
o8 PAMT0052416.,
99 PAMT0041742.
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taking the technology into the video gaming world but barring that we should be ok.”'°° Potashner
made it clear to any go-shop participant that the deck was already stacked — Potashner and Turtle Beach
were “aligned” and no go-shop participants were allowed to compete with Turtle Beach in the “video
gaming world.”!"!

87.  The go-shop contained several additional structural problems. First, the Break-Up
License applied fully during the go-shop, which precluded bids as discussed above. Second, the five
day business match-right provision also carried a potent effect during the go-shop. Professor
Subramanian also concluded:

The 5-Day Match Right allows Turtle Beach to slow down, and potentially run out the

clock on, a potential third-party bid. A third-party bidder would have to conduct its due

diligence, make a formal offer, wait for the Parametric board to consider the offer (in

consultation with its bankers and lawyers), all with the possibility that Turtle Beach will

match on the last day of the Go-Shop Period so that its offer is no longer a Superior

Proposal. In order ensure a last look after a potential Turtle Beach match, a third-party

bidder would have to make a written Acquisition Proposal within 15-20 calendar days.

In my optnion, this is an exceedingly compressed timeframe — one that is infeasible, as

a practical matter, for most potential bidders to meet,

88.  After analyzing data supporting the unusual combination of the respective lengths of
these two provisions, Professor Subramanian concluded:

This data indicates that the combination of the Match Right/Go-Shop Provision in the

Turtle Beach-Parametric deal were not typical; in my opinion, they put up significant

barriers to the possibility of a Superior Proposal.

89.  Third, the go-shop was further limited in that under the terms of the Merger Agreement,
Parametric was not permitted to engage in licensing discussions and thus could not present a superior
licensing agreement to Parametric’s shareholders.

90.  Fourth, the Parametric Board permitted Houlihan Lokey, a conflicted financial advisor,
to run the “go shop.” Houlihan Lokey had no incentive to actually find an alternate bidder during the
go-shop process, and every incentive not to. Houlihan Lokey’s engagement fee had already been

curtailed significantly when it was forced to rebate $300,000 to pay for the Craig-Hallum fairness

opinion fee after it was discovered that Houlihan Lokey had represented Turtle Beach in its private sales

100 Id
101 Id
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process in 2011 and was thus conflicted.'” And Houlihan Lokey was forced to forego any interest in
providing debt or equity financing to the combined company post-close after Turtle Beach demanded
that its engagement letter be amended so that Houlihan Lokey’s placement role would not survive the
merger.'” Thus Houlihan Lokey’s only chance to sweeten their take from the process was to get a
piece of the $5 million financing that Parametric was obligated to provide for the merger, which
Houlihan Lokey believed it would be entitled to if the financing was debt instead of equity.'® That
would only happen if Turtle Beach was the buyer, because only Turtle Beach needed the financing so it
wouldn’t trip its debt covenants. Indeed, so desperate was Houlihan Lokey to secure any extra payout
from the process that, after the conclusion of the go-shop process when it became clear that
Parametric’s $5 million in financing would come from an equity source and not a debt source (which
effectively cut oft Houlihan Lokey’s ability to secure a debt placement fee), Houlihan Lokey sought a
conflict waiver from the Board so that it could act as debt placement agent for Turtle Beach.'® This
effort, which would have put Houlihan Lokey on both sides of the transaction, was actually approved by
the Board but misfired when Turtle Beach declined to engage Houlihan Lokey for this role.

PARAMETRIC SHAREHOLDERS WERE DAMAGED BECAUSE THE MERGER
OFFERED A GROSSLY INADEQUATE VALUATION FOR THEIR SHARES

91.  The Board announced the Merger after the market closed on August 5, 2013.
Parametric’s shares immediately tanked. Parametric’s stock closed at $17.69 per share on August 5
then closed at just $14.08 per share on August 6, representing a 20% drop in shareholder value.
Parametric shares dipped to post-announcement low of $10.46 on December 11, 2013 and ultimately

stood at $14.19 on January 15, 2014, the day the Merger closed.

102 Deposition Transcript of Daniel Hoverman (“Hoverman Tr.”) at 110-111, 154.

103 14 at 213-214.
104 Id. at 220-221.
105 Id. at 216-220.
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The Board Acted in Bad Faith When it Consciously
Disregarded a Known Component of Parametric’s
Standalone Value — the SIIG/Optek Soundbar Project

92.  The Board acted in bad faith when it consciously disregarded a known component of
Parametric’s standalone value when it engaged and/or permitted Potashner to engage, in the following
activity: (a) Potashner sat on Optek Electronics offer to pay Parametric a 9% royalty to “aggressive[ly]
rollout” Hypersound technology in hundreds of thousands of Optek soundbars and headphones destined
for Costco Wholesale Corporation {““Costco”) shelves in time for the 2013 Christmas shopping season;
{b) the Board approved the Merger based on Craig-Hallum analysis the Board knew excluded potential
Optek revenue (or any licensing revenue for that matter); and (c) Potashner encouraged Turtle Beach
CEO Stark to negotiate with Optek for Turtle Beach’s benefit two weeks into the Go-Shop process and
months before shareholders voted on the Merger.

93.  Parametric began exploring the hypersound “soundbar” application in May 2012 and
created a prototype unit that fall.'® The Shanghai Industrial Investment Group (SIIG)’s Amercian trade
representative, Optek Electronics, distributes soundbars and other audio equipment through CostCo
under the TV Ears brand. Potashner visited the SIIG facilities in China in late November 2012 and
Potashner, Bames, and Norris conducted a “technical call with SIIG scientists” and the Board reached a
consensus that “it made business sense to continue discussions to pursue a wide range of possible
relationships” with SIIG.'??

94. By January 19, 2013, Potashner stated that SIIG/Optek was considering a significant
order for soundbars: “We are getting initial requests for volume. One of the largest players who would
use it to improve their video gaming products asked whether we can support a 200k-300k order for this
year. I’m at the phase where | want to explore Asian manufacturing partnerships . . . [our technology]
will also scale into soundbar and other solutions in short order.”'™ On February 22, 2013 Potashner

authorized a draft press release announcing Parametric and Optek entered into a Memorandum of

106 PAMT0032661.
107 PAMTO000006.
108 PAMT0039019.
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Understanding (“MOU”) defining four “key areas of focus™ to include: “a licensing agreement, a
manufacturing agreement, a joint product development agreement, and the establishment of a joint
venture to address the Chinese market.”'% Parametric distributed a press release regarding the MOU on
March 4, 2013.

95.  On March 6, 2013, just two days after Parametric disclosed Optek’s interest in
Hypersound technology, Turtle Beach began wooing Potashner with talk of a merger.!'" By March 29,
Stark was worried Optek would encroach on Turtle Beach’s license for a “gaming segment” and that
they would “need to determine how to fence this off from [Consumer Electronics] (which would be
challenging).”'!! Barnes suggested later that day, “One thought is to keep [Turtle Beach’s Consumer
Electronics license] exclusive to North America only. Then we can do China or sell it to SIIG.”'"?
Potashner had already informed Optek managing director Alan Hsich that Turtle Beach was a priority:
“Turtle Beach is requesting that soundbars be part of the licensing discussion. .. we can still go
forward but it will need to be carved out into different applications for soundbars. ie Turtle Beach for
gaming and [Optek] for general consumer and Hearing products.”''?

96.  Rather than continue to negotiate an Optek soundbar, Potashner leaked details of the
Optek licensing offer to Stark. On April 7, 2013 Potashner wrote to Stark, “I also have a license
proposal on my desk by TV Ears wanting to move product into Costco (US largest distributor of
hearing aids) asap.” Two days later, on April 9, Potashner told Stark Optek had proposed a license for
an “exclusive relationship on soundbars as well as headphones utilizing our [P. The proposed royalty
rate is 9% for the initial volume tranche and they have support from Costco from a shelf space

perspective. They want to move quickly with an aggressive rollout.”"'* The same day, Potashner went a

19 PAMT0042238.
no PAMTO0039311.
I PAMT0039624.
112 Id

3 PAMT0039523.
14 PAMT0034497.

-33.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT IN INTERVENTION

PA035



[= NV T 1S

|

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

step further and put Stark in touch with Optek’s Alan Hsieh to “support a diligence call from you on
product commercialization™''” which Stark, Hsieh and Potashner held on April 16 utilizing Parametric’s
estimated material costs for soundbar production.!'® Potashner reported it was a “good call,” which
“went well,” so well that “Juergan ... has convinced himself that the technology can be readily
productized so he didn’t need a second opinion.”''’ The day after Optek/Turtle Beach call, Potashner
told Stark he was “fine with the need to get a soundbar out now concept as long as there is commitment
to the broader vision.”'!3

97. Meanwhile, Turtle Beach had already recognized the value of soundbar production,
focusing on Parametric’s estimated cost of sound bar materials on April 24, 2013 and citing
Parametric’s estimated costs for a soundbar in negotiation.!'? In fact, two of the top items in the “Post
Acquisition Gameplan” involved a gaming soundbar and to “Set up product sourcing similar to VTB
model with Chinese partner.”'?° Potashner and Stark continued to discuss SIIG/Optek in June and July
2013 '?! but quietly shelved the project until after board approved the merger. Potashner even passed
on authority to Stark to approve or reject the SIIG/Optek licensing agreement two weeks before the
Parametric Board’s Merger vote.!?
98.  TheBoard voted on the merger while failing to value the revenue to be received from the

Optek soundbar issue. The projections on which Craig-Hallum based its “fairness opinion” included no

revenue from Optek, and egregiously, no licensing revenue at all, even though Barnes admitted that “we

1S PAMTO0039841.

116 PAMTO0049515.

"7 PAMTO0040004; PAMTO0040011; PAMT0040011.
8 PAMTO0040005.

1% PAMTO0060441; PAMTO0040151.

120 PAMTO0049604.

121 PAMTO058676.

22 PAMTO0060525.
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fully expect” that revenue stream. ' Digital signage and HHI were the only sources of revenue
included in the final projections.'’”* The Board knew, or should have known, that the S11G/Optek
soundbar was an existing project likely to generate revenue, but acted in bad faith when it approved the
Merger based on flawed financial projections with a gaping omission.

99.  In addition, Kaplan’s July 2013 frustration with Potashner’s lack of progress further
demonstrated that the Board was woefully uninformed on the Optek issue: “The longer this goes on the
more difficult it becomes and the messier. Personally I think this has gone on far too long. What has
been going on since this VTB idea surfaced? Where are our licensing agreements.... The Chinese . . !
Kaptan never followed up on the issue.

100.  After the parties has announced the Merger and in the middle of the so-called “go shop”
period, Potashner coordinated meetings with Hseih of Optek and Stark for September 12, 2013. By
August 18, still during the Go-Shop, Parametric’s VP of Business Development, Steve Thesing, was
“working on the SIIG MOU to frame licensing and manufacturing terms for the Hypersound soundbar”
and passed on Hsieh’s request for Turtle Beach financials or a credit check to “establish a credit
line.”'?® On September 12, 2013, Hsieh, Stark, and Potashner met for lunch in Irvine.'?” On September
24, Hsieh and Stark coordinated Stark’s October tour of Optek’s China facilities so that the post-Merger
Turtle Beach-controlled entity would reap the primary benefits, rather than Parametric’s stockholders

pursuant to the Merger.'%?

123 PAMT0044589; PAMT0053793.
124 PAMT0044589.
125 PAMT0061365.
126 PAMTO0055322.
127 PAMTO0042177, PAMT0042089.
122 PAMTO0054438.
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The Board Did Not Appropriately Consider Turtle Beach’s
Distressed Financial Picture or Parametric’s Standalone
Value When Voting on the Merger

101.  Parametric sharcholders were reduced from full majority ownership to less than a 20%
ownership in a larger, but distressed company. Turtle Beach’s EBITDA estimates were rapidly
declining, in 2012 it experienced $47.8 million in annual EBITDA, in June 2013 it estimated 2013
EBITDA at $40.6 million, and in August 2013 it lowered expected 2013 EBITDA to just $36.0 million.
Turtle Beach indicated its estimates would be revised even lower in the coming months. Turtle Beach’s
profitability collapse in 2013 also tripped its debt covenants, as the Proxy indicates that “Turtle Beach
was not in compliance with the fixed charge coverage ratio as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012
and obtained waivers of the compliance issues from its lenders.” As a result, Turtle Beach’s lenders
required Parametric to complete a stock offering prior to close of the Merger, which will even further
dilute Parametric’s public shareholders. Turtle Beach was unable to find additional third-party lenders
and on August 30, 2013, it issued Subordinated Notes to its owner, the Stripes Group, and its CEO, at
highly unfavorable rates. “The Subordinated Notes bear interest at a rate of (i) 10% per annum for the
first year and (ii) 20% per annum for all periods thereafter. Interest shall accrue quarterly. Principal and
interest on the Subordinated Notes is due at maturity. The Subordinated Notes mature on the one year
anniversary of the later of (i) the term loan maturity date of August 22, 2015 or (ii) the revolving line of
credit termination date of August 22, 2015.” These terms advantage Turtle Beach’s owners and
insiders, but will harm Parametric shareholders upon close of the Merger.

102.  After receiving Turtle Beach’s second quarter 2013 financials two days before the
Merger vote, Barnes remarked to Potashner: “Proxy may not be pretty. Going to have some selling to
do.12°

103. The Merger drastically undervalues the Company, does not adequately reflect the
Company’s fair value and does not adequatecly compensate the Company’s shareholders for the
Company’s incredible potential, including the value of the Company’s HyperSound (HSS(r))

technology. Turtle Beach was a company that had revenues of approximately $205 millionin2012. As

129 PAMTO0057372.
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one analyst explained: “Comparable companies such as Skullcandy (SKUL) or Logitech (LOGI), while
profitable, trade at deeply discounted valuations. Since all we know about Turtle Beach are its revenues,
the one metric that concerns us is price/sales. Skullcandy trades at a price/sales of 0.56, and Logitech
trades at a price/sales of 0.53.”

104. The analyst continued: “The main way that Turtle Beach would earn a higher valuation
multiple, would be for it to be much more profitable than either Skullcandy or Logitech. But that’s not
likely — Turtle Beach is even accruing dividends on its preferred, and that’s not the move of a hugely
profitable enterprise. So we can reasonably expect Turtle Beach to trade at a valuation that’s close to its
comparables. Something between 0.50 times sales and, to be generous, 1.00 times sale. That would
mean that the new Parametric Sound would trade with a market capitalization of somewhere between
$102.5 million and $205 million. But remember, present [Parametric] shareholders will have just 20%
ofthis new company. This would give them a value of between $20.5 and $41 million. And therein lies
the problem — [Parametric] presently trades with a market capitalization of $118.1 million, so if Turtle
Beach happens to converge to the valuation of its comparables, then the downside for present
[Parametric] shareholders will be somewhere between 65% and 82%. In short, this merger has the
potential to be disastrous for [Parametric] shareholders.” The analyst concluded: “So the one thing
that’s likely to happen is for [Parametric] shareholders to lose and lose big.” That is exactly what
happened here.

105.  Ultimately, on August 2, 2013, the conflicted Craig-Hallum gave a faimess opinion that
the Per Share Exchange Ratio was fair, based on a materially flawed analysis that was skewed in order
to make an unfair deal look fair. Craig-Hallum was using the fairness opinion, for which it was paid
just $200,000, as an opportunity to pitch a more lucrative role in obtaining fees of $500,000 to $700,000
in fees on an additional equity financing.'* In March 2013, Craig-Hallum pitched for a role an equity
offering by Parametric and, days after providing the faimess opinion in August 2013, Rick Hartfiel,

Director of Investment Banking at Craig-Hallum, recommended a $10 million offering “at around a 15-

130 PAMTO0038785.

-37-

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT IN INTERVENTION

PA039




e T~ O S T

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

20% discount to market.”!*' In fact, Craig-Hallum’s representative admitted at deposition that it was

132 There was no

“pitching its participation in [an] equity offering” during the August 2013 timeframe.
ethical wall to separate the bankers involved in the fairness opinion and those individuals
simultaneously pitching the more lucrative work.!*?

106. The Merger valuation did not reflect that before the Merger’s announcement, Parametric
had been working on commercializing its HyperSound (HSS(r)) technology since its introduction, and
expected that this technology would be used in three multibillion dollar market sectors: (i) consumer
markets, including computers, video gaming, televisions, home audio, electronic gaming, health care,
movies and cinema and mobile devices; (ii) commercial markets, including digital signage, kiosks and
retails stores; and (iii) health care, including out of ear solution for hearing impaired individuals. The
Company had worked with various companies in selling and implementing its technologies, including
with McDonald’s, Fujitsu, Ingram Micro, Build-A-Bear Workshop, Epsilon Electronics, and Softbank
Corporation. The Company had also been successful in clinical results favorably comparing
HyperSound (HSS(r)) technology with conventional audio for persons with mild to severe hearing loss.
In addition to its new technology, Parametric had a substantial body of intellectual property, including
24 U.S. and two foreign patents issued, and 12 pending patents,

107.  On February 7, 2013, the Company announced its financial results for its first fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2012, including: (i) revenue of $109,000 during the first quarter of fiscal
2013, as compared to $65,000 during the same period last year, and $75,000 for the preceding quarter,
reflecting growth in digital signage product sales; and (ii) gross profit of $55,000, compared to $40,000
for the comparable prior year quarter and $25,000 for the preceding quarter.

108.  OnMarch 25, 2013, the Company provided outlook for fiscal year 2013. The Company
announced that it was expecting to be cash flow positive from operations for 2014 from its core digital

signage and licensing business. “We have been able to advance strategic licensing discussions and we

131 Wambeke Tr. at 122-123 and Ex. 2; PAMT0047470; PAMT0046980.
132 Wambeke Tr, at 118.
133 Wambeke Tr. at 119-120, 122-123, 125-126.

-38-

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT IN INTERVENTION

PA040



L e N ¥ T - PSS o

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
2
23
24
25
26
27
28

have achieved success on several recent digital signage pilot projects that we expect will translate to
high volume customer orders late in 2013 and in 2014. As a result, we anticipate that we will be
operating cash flow positive in 2014,” said defendant Potashner. “The possible volumes associated
with product rollouts have exceeded our internal projections for digital signage. We expect the
investments we are making in 2013 to build this business for 2014 growth will result in quarterly
performance for the balance of 2013 consistent with prior communications.”

109.  Defendant Potashner continued: “Further strengthening our outlook for 2014 is important
progress on the licensing front, as we are now in negotiations with several market leading prospects in
key market verticals. We expect the combination of product sales and future IP license revenue should
result in strong future growth. We are very pleased with our accomplishments in both areas.”

Potashner, Wolfe and Todd’s Past History of
Threats, Litigation and Fraud

110. Potashner’s threats to the Parametric Board were very real, as fellow-board member
Wolfe was fully aware. Potashner was successful on similar threats to displace all of his co-board
members at an entity named SonicBlue in 2002 when that board did not meet Potashner’s personal
compensation demands. While serving as SonicBlue’s CEO concurrently with CTO Wolfe and Vice
President Todd, Potashner demanded SonicBlue’s board resign if they did not immediately repay over
$500,000 in loans. SonicBlue had also loaned Potashner $261,232 and Wolfe $76,280 at 5.75%
interest to invest in RioPort, Inc., a private company SonicBlue partially owned, similar to Parametric’s
subsidiary HHI. When SonicBlue’s board later voted to convert their loans (but not Potashner’s and
Wolfe’s) to non-recourse, Potashner publically demanded the board pay up or resign. On August 9,
2002, the San Jose Mercury News reported that “Potashner said the board voted to remove him after he
told the Mercury News Thursday morning that he planned to call for the resignation of three of Sonic-
Blue’s five board members if they refused to repay their loans early.”

111.  On September 18, 2002, Potashner “initiated proceedings” against SonicBlue, claiming
SonicBlue owed him $1,984,000 pursuant to an employment agreement set to expire October 30, 2002
because SonicBlue allegedly terminated Potashner without cause. On December 6, 2002, Potashner

released his claims and paid the $310,677 balance on his RioPort loan in exchange for over $1 million—
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$410,677.83 cash and $600,000 to be paid in 2003. On March 21, 2003, after the press noted that
“Potashner had managed to embroil his company in noisy legal battles with investors, employees,
competitors, the government of Taiwan, the recording industry, and 29 film and broadcasting
companies,” SonicBlue finally declared Chapter 11 bankruptcy which, according to Forbes, brought
“the story of an interesting and innovative company to a close.”

112.  Former SonicBlue executives Wolfe and Todd also left SonicBlue on similar terms
shortly before SonicBlue declared bankruptcy. The same month Todd left that company, SonicBlue
agreed to forgive its interest-free loan of $150,000 loan to Todd. SonicBlue also agreed to forgive an
additional $150,000 loan granted Todd in May 2001, if SonicBlue terminated Todd “without cause.”
As a result of Potashner’s threats, SonicBlue agreed to pay Wolfe a ten-month salary if SonicBlue
involuntarily terminated Wolfe in October 2002.

113.  Todd has been found liable to the SEC for securities fraud. When hiring Todd, issuing
Todd valuable stock options, then demanding a $250,000 payment from Todd in exchange for a release,
Potashner likely neglected to inform the rest of the Parametric Board thatin 2012 the Southern District
of California entered final judgment after the Ninth Circuit found substantial evidence in the trial
record to support a unanimous 2007 jury verdict concluding Todd “unlawfully misrepresented
Gateway’s financial condition in the third quarter of 2000 in order to meet financial analysts’ earnings
and revenue expectations” while CFO at Gateway, Inc. In conjunction with the adverse judgment, Todd
(i) consented to a 10-year bar from acting as an officer in a public company; (ii) disgorged $165,000
plus $138,162.24 in prejudgment interest; and (iii} paid a $110,000 penalty. In light of Todd’s past
securities fraud, he is not even permitted to run a franchise in the State of California. California’s
Department of Corporations recently found Todd’s fraud liability verdict material when BevMax
Franchising LLC, of which Todd is President, applied for a franchise license but “failed to disclose the
imposition of penalties against Todd for violating multiple provisions of the federal securities laws."
In denying BevMax’s franchise application, the Department specifically noted “the involvement of
Todd in the sale or management of the BevMax franchise in this State would create unreasonable

risk to prospective franchisees.” Parametric similarly failed to disclose these facts to its shareholders.
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The Materially Misleading Proxy

114. Defendants obtained a majority vote of uninformed Parametric shareholders on
December 27, 2013. Sharcholders were coerced into voting for the Merger as a result of an
undervalued Break-Up License and the Proxy, filed on December 3, 2013, left shareholders woefully
uninformed about multiple issues described herein. These issues include: (a) the value of the
SIIG/Optek project; (b) the Board’s attempts to angle for personal payments in the hours leading up to,
and during, the final Merger vote; (¢) the Board’s actions in stalling other potenttal acquirers and
licensing discussions; (d) the Company announcements the Board chose not to announce during Merger
negotiations and their intention that it would make “the premium on the deal look better”; (e) the detail
behind Potashner’s threats to the rest of the Board; and (f) and the fact that the Board’s financial
advisors did not provide any opinion, informal or otherwise, on the terms of the Break-Up License.
These issues go to the heart of the shareholders’ decision whether to vote in favor of the merger and in
the absence of their disclosure, the sharcholder vote could not have been fully informed.

115. Defendants also deprived plaintiffs and the stockholder class of their rights to appraisal.
Nevada Revised Statute Section 78.3793 provides dissenting sharcholders the right to “dissent in
accordance with the provisions of NRS 92A.300 to 92A.500, inclusive, and obtain payment of the fair
value of his or her shares” unless the acquired company has “otherwise provided in the articles of
incorporation or the bylaws of the issuing corporation in effect on the 10th day following the acquisition
of a controlling interest.” But on August 2, 2013, the Parametric Board voted to amend Parametric’s
bylaws so that “the provisions of Nevada Revised Statutes Sections 78.378 to 78.3783, inclusive, shall
not apply to the Corporation or to the acquisition of a controlling interest by existing or future
stockholders.”'** This definition included the Merger and Parametric shareholders were thus left
without rights to appraisal for their shares in connection with the Merger.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
116.  Plaintiffs bring this action individually and as a class action on behalf of all holders of

Parametric stock harmed by defendants’ actions described below (the “Class™). Excluded from the

134 PAMTO0000189.
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Class are defendants herein and any person, firm, trust, corporation, or other entity related to or
affiliated with any defendant.

117. This action is properly maintainable as a class action.

118. The Class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. According to
Parametric’s SEC filings, there were approximately 6.7 million shares of Parametric common stock
outstanding as of April 30, 2013, held by hundreds if not thousands of shareholders geographically
dispersed across the country.

119. There are questions of law and fact which are common to the Class and which
predominate over questions affecting any individual Class member. The common questions include,
inter alia, the following:

(a) whether the Individual Defendants have breached their fiduciary duties of
undivided loyalty or independence with respect to plaintiffs and the other members of the Class in
connection with the Merger;

(b)  whether the Individual Defendants engaged in self-dealing in connection with the
Merger;

(c) whether the Individual Defendants unjustly enriched themselves and other
instders or affiliates of Parametric;

(d)  whether the Individual Defendants have breached any of their other fiduciary
duties to plaintiffs and the other members of the Class in connection with the Merger, including the
duties of good faith, diligence, honesty and fair dealing;

(e) whether the Defendants, in bad faith and for improper motives, usurped a
corporate opportunity belonging to Parametric; and

(H whether the defendants, in bad faith and for improper motives, have impeded or
erected barriers to discourage other offers for the Company or its assets,

120.  Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the other members of the Class and
plaintiffs do not have any interests adverse to the Class.

121.  Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of the Class, have retained competent counsel

experienced in litigation of this nature, and will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.
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122.  Plaintiffs anticipate that there will be no difficulty in the management of this litigation.
A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this
controversy.

123. Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the Class with respect to the
matters complained of herein, thereby making appropriate the relief sought herein with respect to the
Class as a whole.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

For Breach of Fiduciary Duties
Against All Defendants

124.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each allegation set forth herein.

125.  The Individual Defendants have violated fiduciary duties of loyalty, good faith, and
honesty owed under Nevada law to the public shareholders of Parametric and have acted to put their
persenal interests ahead of the interests of Parametric shareholders.

126. By theacts, transactions and courses of conduct alleged herein, defendants, individually
and acting as a part of a common plan, advanced their interests at the expense of plaintiffs and other
members of the Class.

127. The Individual Defendants have violated their fiduciary duties by entering into a
transaction without regard to the fairness of the transaction to Parametric’s shareholders.

128.  As demonstrated by the allegations above, the Individual Defendants breached their
duties of loyalty, good faith, and honesty owed to the shareholders of Parametric because, among other
reasons:

(a) they failed to properly value Parametric in connection with the Merger;

(b) they ignored or did not protect against the numerous conflicts of interest resulting
from their own interrelationships or connection with the Merger;

(c) they acted in bad faith when approving the Merger;

{d) they acted in their own selfinterests to the harm of Parametric stockholders when
approving the Merger; and

(e} they acted dishonestly in connection with approving the Merger.
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129. The Individual Defendants engaged in self-dealing, did not act in good faith toward
plaintiffs and the other members of the Class, and have breached and breached their fiduciary duties to
the members of the Class.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

For Aiding and Abetting Breaches of Fiduciary Duty
Against Defendants Parametric and Turtle Beach

130. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege every allegation set forth herein.

131.  Defendants Parametric and Turtle Beach aided and abetted the Individual Defendants in
breaching their fiduciary duties owed to the public shareholders of Parametric, including plaintiffs and
the members of the Class.

132, The Individual Defendants owed to plaintiffs and the members of the Class certain
fiduciary duties as fully set out herein.

133. By committing the acts alleged herein, the Individual Defendants breached their
fiduciary duties owed to plaintiffs and the members of the Class.

134.  Parametric and Turtle Beach colluded in or aided and abetted the Individual Defendants’
breaches of fiduciary duties, and were active and knowing participants in the Individual Defendants’
breaches of fiduciary duties owed to plaintiffs and the members of the Class.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, plaintiffs demand judgment in their favor and in favor of the Class and against

all defendants as follows:

A. Declaring that this action is properly maintainable as a class action;

B. Declaring and decreeing that the Merger Agreement was unlawfully entered into and that
the Merger was consummated in breach of the fiduciary duties of the Individual Defendants;

C. Awarding damages to plaintiffs and the Class, including pre-and post-judgment interest;

D. Awarding plaintiffs the costs of this action, including a reasonable allowance for the fees

and expenses of plaintiffs’ attorneys and experts; and
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E. Granting Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class such further relief as the Court

deems just and proper.
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WILLIAM M. O°’MARA (Nevada Bar No. 837)
DAVID C. O’MARA (Nevada Bar No. 8599)
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DAVID C. O°'MARA

311 East Liberty Street
Reno, NV 89501
Telephone: 775/323-1321
775/323-4082 (fax)

ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN
& DOWD LLP

RANDALL J. BARON

A. RICK ATWOOD, JR.

DAVID T. WISSBROECKER

DAVID A. KNOTTS

655 West Broadway, Suite 1900

San Diego, CA 92101-8498

Telephone: 619/231-1058

619/231-7423 (fax)

Attorneys for Intervening Plaintiffs Raymond
Boytim and Grant Oakes
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify under penalties of perjury that on this date [ served a true and correct copy of the

foregoing document by:

Depositing for mailing, in a sealed envelope, U.S.

X Postage prepaid, at Reno, Nevada
Personal delivery

Facsimile

Federal Express or other overnight delivery

Messenger Service

addressed as follows:

G. Mark Albright, Esq.

Albright Stoddard Warnick & Albright
801 South Rancho Drive, Suite D-4
Las Vegas, Nevada 89106

Telephone: (702) 384-7111

Facsimile: (702) 384-0605

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Kearney IRRV Trust,
Vitie Rakauskas, George L. Prieston, and
Josh Hansen

Joseph E. White, III, Esq.

Jonathan M. Stein, Esq.

Saxena White P.A.

2424 North Federal Highway, Suite 257
Boca Raton, Florida 33431

Telephone: (561) 394-3399

Facsimile: (561) 394-3382

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Kearney IRRV Trust,
Vitie Rakauskas, George L. Prieston, and
Josh Hansen

4.

John P. Aldrich

Aldrich Law Firm, Ltd.

1601 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite 160
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Telephone: (702) 583-6748
Facsimile: (702) 227-1975

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Kearney IRRV Trust,
Vitie Rakauskas, George L. Prieston, and
Josh Hansen

Shannon L. Hopkins, Esq.
Levi & Korsinsky, LLP

30 Broadway Street, 24" Floor
New York, NY 10004
Telephone: (212) 363-7500
Facsimile: (866) 367-6510

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Kearney IRRV Trust,
Vitie Rakauskas, George L. Prieston, and
Josh Hansen
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J. Stephen Peek, Esq.

Robert J. Cassity, Esq.

Holland & Hart, LLP

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2™ Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134
Telephone: (702) 669-4600
Facsimile: (702) 699-4650

Attorneys for Defendants Parametric Sound
Corporation, Paris Acquisition Corporation,
Kenneth Potashner, Elwood Norris, Seth
Putterman, Robert Kaplan, Andrew Wolfe,
and James Honore.

Richard C. Gordon, Esq.

Snell & Wilmer, LLP

3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169

Telephone: (702} 784-5200

Facsimile: (702) 784-5252

Attorneys for Defendant, VTB Holdings, Inc.

Joshua D.N. Hess, Esq.
Dechert, LLP

One Maritime Plaza, Suite 2300
San Francisco, California 94111
Telephone: (415) 262-4500
Facsimile: (415) 262-4555

Attorneys for Defendant, VTB Holdings, Inc.

DATED: February 26, 2014,

John P. Stigi, III, Esq.

Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton, LLP
1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1600

Los Angeles, California 90067

Telephone: (310) 228-3717

Facsimile: (310) 228-3917

Attorneys for Defendants Parametric Sound
Corporation, Paris Acquisition Corporation,
Kenneth Potashner, Elwood Norris, Seth
Putterman, Robert Kaplan, Andrew Wolfe,
and James Honore.

Neil A. Steiner, Esq.

Dechert, LLP

1095 Avenue of the Americans
New York, NY 10036
Telephone: (212) 698-3500
Facsimile: (212) 698-3599

Attorneys for Defendant, VTB Holdings, Inc.

Randall J. Baron, Esq.

David A. Knotts, Esq.

Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd, LLP
655 West Broadway, Suite 1900

San Diego, California 92101
Telephone: (619) 231-1058

Facsimile: (619) 231-7423

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Raymond Boytim and
Grant Oaks

/s/ Valerie Weis
Valerie Weis
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tjackus@sheppardmullin.com

Attorneys for Kenneth Potashner, Elwood
Norris, Seth Putterman, Robert Kaplan, Andrew
Wolfe and James Honore

O’MARA LAW FIRM, P.C.

David C. O’Mara, Esq.

311 E. Liberty Street

Reno, NV 89501

Email: david@omaralaw.net
val@omaralaw.net

ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN &

DOWD LLP

Randall Baron, Esqg.

David Knotts, Esq.

655 West Broadway, Suite 1900

San Diego, CA 92101

Email: DKnotts@rgrdlaw.com
randyb@rgrdlaw.com
JamieM@rgrdlaw.com

Counsel for Intervening
Plaintiffs/California Plaintiffs

DECHERT L.L.P.

Neil A. Steiner, Esq

1095 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10036

Email: neil.steiner@dechert.com

Joshua D. N. Hess, Esq

Brian Raphel, Esg.

One Bush Street, Suite 1600

San Francisco, CA 94104

Email: Joshua.hess@dechert.com
Brian.Raphel@dechert.com
Reginald.Zeigler@dechert.com

Attorneys for Defendants Parametric
Sound Corporation, VTB Holdings, Inc.
and Paris Acquisition Corp

/s/ Ruby Lengsavath

An Employee of Snell & Wilmer L.L.P.
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